# Working Paper

March 2011

108

Peasants Against Private Property Rights:

A Review of the Literature

Thomas Vendryes, Paris School of Economics, French Center for Research on Contemporary China (CEFC) (thomas.vendryes@normalesup.org)

Contact: Nicolas Meisel, Economic and Social Research Unit, AFD

Département de la Recherche



## Disclaimer

This literature review is part of a research project on rural land rights issues in China, funded by Agence Française de Développement (AFD).

The analyses and conclusions formulated in this document are those of the author. They do not necessarily reflect the position of Agence Française de Développement or its partner institutions.

Publications Director: Dov ZERAH

Editorial Director: Robert PECCOUD

**ISSN**: 1958-539X

Copyright: 1<sup>st</sup> quarter, 2011

Layout: Anne-Elizabeth COLOMBIER

## Contents

	Abstract	5
	Introduction	7
1.	Property Rights Privatization: Definitions, Benefits and Evolution	11
1.1	Definitions	11
1.2	Rural land privatization: Expected benefits in developing countries	12
1.3	Endogenous and exogenous privatization	15
2.	Peasants against Privatization	17
2.1	Preliminary remark: Privatization and formalization	17
2.2	Privatization: Cases of inefficiency	18
2.3	Distributive effects of privatization	22
	Conclusion	25
	References	27

#### **Abstract**

Land is the main - if not the only - asset for a majority of people in developing countries. The definition and allocation of rights over land are consequently naturally essential aspects of individuals' daily lives, as well as critical determinants of social and economic development. The privatization of land rights has long been seen as a necessary process, enhancing both efficiency and equity. However, privatized land rights have not always emerged endogenously, while exogenously driven programs of land privatization have not always been successful or popular. This has raised questions about the efficiency of the

privatization of land rights. This paper aims at summarizing the main arguments and studies, both theoretical and empirical, on this issue of the privatization of land rights, with a specific focus on the factors that can make privatization inefficient or detrimental for the most concerned individuals.

JEL Classification: O17, Q15.

Keywords: land rights, land tenure, property rights, privatization.

#### Introduction

## Land rights and institutions in rural areas: A crucial dimension of development

The seminal works of Coase (1937) and Coase (1960) on externalities have led, since the 1960s, to a renewal of academic research on property rights (e.g. Demsetz, 1967, Alchian, 1965, and Alchian and Demsetz, 1973) and on institutions (Williamson, 1975, North, 1990). The granting of the Nobel Prize in Economics to Douglas C. North in 1993, and then to Elinor Ostrom and Oliver E. Williamson in 2009, has shown - if ever there was a need to do so - the importance of New Institutional Economics in contemporary economic thinking. Property rights and institutions are especially important in the fields of economic growth and development (Acemoglu, Johnson and Robinson, 2001, Easterly and Levine, 2003, Rodrik, Subramanian and Trebbi, 2004, Acemoglu, Johnson and Robinson, 2005). Considered as a key factor in economic progress (Yifu Lin and Nugent, 1995, Shirley, 2008), they are also one of the main explanations invoked for the historical rise of the West and the eventual advent of the Industrial Revolution (North and Thomas, 1973, Mokyr, 1999). Unsurprisingly, after the apparent failure of Washington Consensus policies and the general disappointment with "structural adjustment" in the 1990s, both the International Monetary Fund and the World Bank turned to the "second-generation" policy prescriptions of the "augmented Washington consensus", which were and continue to be largely focused on institutions (Rodrik, 2006). Academically as well as politically, sound institutions and well designed property rights are nowadays considered as critical determinants of economic performance.

At the first stages of development, the most important institutions remain the ones concerning agricultural land, its distribution and its use. According to UNDP data provided

by FAO,<sup>1</sup> more than half of the working population in developing countries<sup>2</sup> was in the agricultural sector in 2000. For low-income countries, this proportion was above two thirds. For most rural dwellers in developing countries, land is the main production factor besides labor, and often remains the only asset with which one can generate, accumulate and transmit wealth. Institutional arrangements on land thus constitute a momentous dimension of daily life for citizens in developing countries, as well as a crucial factor in the definition of both the shape and the pace of economic development. As for today's developed countries, agricultural reform, and especially the dismantling of the open field system and the enclosure movement in England, is generally seen as one of the main causes of the acceleration of economic growth in Western Europe in the XVIIIth and XIXth centuries and of the eventual advent of the Industrial Revolution, as it released workers from land while significantly improving agricultural efficiency.3

The institutional framework surrounding rural land and agricultural activities is consequently a momentous characteristic of rural societies in developing countries, and a crucial factor, perhaps even a prerequisite, of overall economic development.

<sup>1</sup> Data on economically active population, available at the address: <a href="http://faostat.fao.org/site/550/default.aspx#ancor">http://faostat.fao.org/site/550/default.aspx#ancor</a>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Developing countries are defined here as countries not classified as high-income by the World Bank.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> There is an extensive literature on the link between land rights reforms, agricultural change and the Industrial Revolution. See for example Marx (1867), Mantoux (1961), O'Brien (1996), and Allen (2008).

## The presumption for privatization: Optimality and emergence of private land rights

On this issue of land rights in rural areas in developing countries, one of the most pervasive views has held that the optimal institutional arrangement is privatization. For example, one of the first and most influential set of policy recommendations on land rights was the "Land Reform Policy Paper" issued by the World Bank (1975), which strongly advocated private land rights and the development of land markets. The recent updating of World Bank positions on this issue (World Bank, 2003) has maintained these basic principles, but with a significantly more gradualist and humble attitude (Deininger and Binswanger, 1999) toward the actual implementation of reforms.

According to this standpoint, because they are optimal, private property rights should progressively emerge, following an evolution first outlined by Demsetz (1967), as their benefits gradually outweigh the cost of setting them up. A virtuous circle of improved rights and economic development can then take place, as both processes mutually sustain and foster each other.

This point of view has two main implications. The first is that economic development and growth are linked with property rights in two ways: the latter hastens the former, whereas the former permits and calls for the latter. The second implication is political, and is of momentous significance: in such a setting, the appearance of private property rights is gradual because it is costly to set them up. However, private property rights are always beneficial, and if they are set up by an external intervention, they should always give positive results.

#### Privatization in practice: Pitfalls and troubles

However, this baseline story of the gradual emergence and efficiency of private property rights has been called into question by two different streams of evidence, now well acknowledged in the literature.

First, the development-property rights nexus remains empirically unclear. One of the most striking counter-

examples is constituted by the symmetric experiences of the former Soviet Bloc countries and of China. In the USSR and its satellites, "big bang" policies of rapid privatization and marketization were implemented in the 1990s, leading, at least in the short and medium term, to very disappointing results (Fischer and Sahay, 2000, Svejnar, 2002). On the other hand, the People's Republic of China has taken a very gradual approach to privatization and liberalization since 1978, which has led today to a situation where institutions remain flawed and property rights quite imperfect (Heston and Sicular, 2008, Clarke, Murrell and Whiting, 2008), but this has not prevented tremendous growth and rapid development. These opposite experiences of transition tend to show that economic success is not always correlated with clear-cut private rights.

Second, quite counter-intuitively, rural dwellers in developing countries do not seem to be univocally demanding privatization, as noted for example by Kung (1995) in the case of China. In addition, programs for the definition and implementation of private property rights at the local level have not always been successful and welcomed, as Bassett (1993) or Firmin-Sellers and Sellers (1999), for example, evidenced in the case of Sub-Saharan Africa. Sjaastad and Cousins (2009) provide a recent and synthetic overview on this issue.

These two streams of evidence seem to indicate that at the macro level, market-friendly institutions and private property rights are not always associated with better economic performance, whereas at the micro level, privatization does not seem to emerge naturally as the economy develops: peasants in developing countries may, in some situations, not be favorable to the privatization of land rights.

#### Scope and plan of the review

The objective of this paper is to provide a review of the theoretical and empirical literature, mainly in economics, on the reasons for the opposition to privatization in developing countries. It will limit itself to the rural aspect of this issue, that is to say to the problem of property rights on rural

agricultural land, which are, as highlighted above, one of the most crucial dimensions of the first stages of economic development. It will not be an exhaustive review, as the literature on rural land rights and rural institutions has now attained a tremendous scope, but it aims at identifying key mechanisms and factors, illustrated by the most representative articles, both empirical and theoretical. While the focus of the study is on rural land rights in developing countries, from an economic point of view, it will still make reference, when necessary, to studies in other

academic disciplines, and to studies on subjects which raise issues similar to those concerning rural land rights.

In terms of the plan of this review, the first section will define property rights and delineate the dimensions of their privatization. The expected benefits of private property rights, as well as the evolutionary conception, will be detailed. The second section will review the theoretical and empirical literature dealing with the issue of opposition to property rights.

## 1. Property Rights Privatization: Definitions, Benefits and Evolution

#### 1.1 Definitions

**Property rights** Following the classic work of Barzel (1997), it is now common to "define the economic property rights an individual has over a commodity (or an asset) to be the individual's ability, in expected terms, to consume the good (or the services of the asset) directly or to consume it indirectly through exchange" (Barzel, 1997, p. 3). These economic property rights are then linked, but not identical, to legal property rights, which "are the rights recognized and enforced, in part, by the government". An individual's actual property rights over an asset then represent the means of control he has over it, and how he can benefit from it. They are partly defined and modeled by external arrangements, such as legal or customary arrangements, but actual property rights exist even when there is no State authority to enforce legal rights (Eggertsson, 1990, chap. 9), and when a State order is in place, it does not constitute the only framework structuring property rights.

Albeit based on formal distinctions inherited from Roman Law, the three dimensions of usus, usus fructus (or simply fructus) and abusus (see for example Eggertsson, 1990, chap. 2) are useful for understanding and analyzing the different aspects of actual economic property rights. To put it in the most general and simple way, usus represents the right to use an asset, fructus covers the right to the incomes generated from this asset, while abusus is the right to alienate it. All together they embody the extent of an individual's bundle of property rights, which can then be more or less extended along each of these dimensions.

Privatization Property rights over an asset can be defined

and allocated in numerous ways. However, at least during its first decades, economic research on property rights has tended to show that the privatization of property rights was the optimal institutional arrangement (see for example de Alessi, 1980, and de Alessi, 1987). This conclusion had important policy consequences, as privatization constituted one dimension of the so-called "Washington consensus" (Williamson, 1990), which acted in the 1990s as the policy matrix for both transition and developing economies.

However, despite its importance in academic and civil society debates, as well as in policy making, "privatization is a fuzzy concept that evokes sharp political reactions", as Starr (1988) put it. However, the privatization of rights over an asset seems to be implicitly defined, most of the time, as a three-dimensional process: individualization, securing and specification.<sup>4</sup> These three processes are especially visible, although not explicitly expressed, in the work of Feder and Feeny (1991), which is focused on Thailand, to point out one example among many studies.

Individualization corresponds to the transfer of rights over an asset from collective entities, such as States, communes or kinships, to individual ones, like households or persons. Securing naturally indicates the fact that individual rights are less prone to be exogenously and unexpectedly challenged or lost. Specification, finally, indicates the process through which the rights included in the individual's bundle are more precisely defined.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Sjaastadt (2000) makes this view explicit, but in order to criticize it.

#### 1.2 Rural land privatization: Expected benefits in developing countries

In terms of rural land in developing countries, a vast literature, both theoretical and empirical, has developed since the 1960s on arrangements for property rights, and on the expected and real benefits of privatization. Recent surveys include Deininger and Feder (2001), Deininger and Feder (2009), and Besley and Ghatak (forthcoming). In this section, we will simply recall the main benefits generally expected from the three dimensions of the privatization of land rights identified above - individualization, securing and specification - and make reference to some of the most representative articles.

Individualization Individualization refers to the transfer of property rights, usus, fructus and abusus, from group entities, such as State or collective structures in transition economies or kinships and traditional communes in developing countries, to individual people. It is the most important, the defining, and probably the critical element of land privatization. It is also the process that probably bears the most important consequences for economic efficiency, as well as for social structures and individuals' daily lives. As a natural consequence, it is also the dimension of privatization that has received the most attention, and has generated the most extensive academic research.

The first asserted gain of the individualization of land rights has been linked with what is known as the "tragedy of the commons" since the work of Hardin (1968). The idea is that if use rights over a resource, necessarily including right of access, are common, this "common-pool" resource will tend to be overexploited, as each individual fully benefits from its use, while the depletion cost is shared. The natural solution is then to privatize use rights, that is to say to grant exclusive access to the resource, and then to allow an individual to exclude others from using the resource. This statement can then be expressed as follows: if usufruct rights are private, then usus rights should be too. This conclusion constituted one of the core developments of Demsetz's (1967) founding article on property rights and of his backing of privatization. There is now an extensive literature on this issue, especially since property rights allocation has emerged as a possible tool against climate

change and natural resources depletion.<sup>5</sup> As agricultural land and its related resources constitute a natural asset whose services can be depleted, it is, as a direct consequence, subject to issues concerning common-pool resources. Collective mismanagement of common land can then end up with a general impoverishment of the peasants, leading to a further increase in the pressure on common land. This vicious circle has been labeled "agricultural involution" by Geertz (1963), and has been documented - to take the most noticeable examples - in the cases of Indonesia (Geertz, 1963), and of some Sub-Saharan African countries, such as Eastern Nigeria (Lagemann, 1977), Ghana (Lopez, 1997) or Côte d'Ivoire (Lopez, 1998). In his study of Côte d'Ivoire, Lopez (1998) found that communal arrangements were unable to regulate the depletion of biomass due to individual agricultural exploitation, which costs as much as 14% of villages' incomes. This situation led to the natural policy prescription of dividing up common land and granting private use rights and exclusive access to land and related natural resources (World Bank, 1975).

The second gain of the individualization of use rights is an allocative one. If individuals have good information about different land use outcomes, decentralized decisions by individual agents will dominate centralized allocation by a collective authority. On the basis of information collection, the general point of the optimality of individual decisions over centralized ones has been made especially clear and popular by Friedman and Friedman (1980). Even if this theoretical idea is quite intuitive, empirical studies remain scant. As for the case of China, the individualization of land use rights through the implementation of the "Household Responsibility System" in the 1980s has been found to lead to the adoption by farmers of more efficient land-use systems (Chen et al., 2001), and the increase in the degree of freedom in production choices is generally seen as a key factor in the reallocation of Chinese agricultural land toward husbandry

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The work of Anderson and Leal (1991) is the very embodiment of the standpoint which holds that private property rights and market mechanisms constitute the solution to contemporary environmental challenges.

and cash crops, and in the correlated growth in output (Perkins, 1988, Lin, 1992). As for Africa, the most well-known example is the land reform carried out in Kenya from 1954 onwards, which included an extension of Kenyan farmers' land use rights, by removing regulatory constraints on growing cash crops, especially coffee. This allowed a reallocation of land toward more profitable uses, and fueled Kenyan success in the 1950s (see for example Barber, 1970).

As for the individualization of the usufruct right on land, it amounts to giving the individual who actually works on the land residual claimancy on land production. Residual claimancy is seen as having one of the strongest impacts on land use efficiency and on agricultural production. Indeed, giving peasants the right to fully appropriate the benefits of their work is surely to incite them to exert their maximum possible effort in situations where there is information asymmetry and effort cannot be monitored. Based on the classical work of Alchian and Demsetz (1972), this result can be stated as follows: in order to reduce shirking and maximize production, the individual who uses a production asset must also be the asset's product residual claimant. Two main streams of theoretical and empirical literature have investigated this issue of usufruct rights, one being concerned with the decollectivization of agriculture in transition economies, the other with tenancy agreements in developing countries. For the first dimension, the collective organization of agricultural production in socialist countries and the correlated lack of proper incentive is considered as one of the prime factors of their agricultural counter-performance, while the decollectivization and privatization processes of the 1980s and 1990s are seen as leading to a huge increase in production. Binswanger, Deininger, and Feder (1995) provide a synthetic review of the theoretical and empirical evidence on the failure of collectivist agriculture, as well as on the tremendous growth in production and efficiency following decollectivization. This effect has been especially well documented in the case of China, with the most well-known studies including Lin (1988), Lin (1992), Fan (1991) and McMillan, Whalley and Zhu (1989). According to this last study, more than three-quarters of the increase in agriculture productivity in the years 1978-1984 was due to the new incentive scheme of the "household

responsibility system", which made farmers residual claimants of the product of their plots. As for tenancy agreements in agricultural relations, there is today an extensive literature on the issue of optimal institutional arrangements, especially between fixed-wage, sharecropping and fixed-rent contracts. Surveys of theoretical and empirical evidence can be found in Otsuka and Hayami (1988), Otsuka, Chuma, and Hayami (1992) and Binswanger, Deininger, and Feder (1995). Empirically, the study of Banerjee, Gertler, and Ghatak (2002) on the Operation Barga carried out in West Bengal at the end of the 1970s brings especially convincing evidence. They show that this institutional reform, which was favorable to agricultural workers, increased the bargaining power of tenants, and, as a consequence, the share of production they could appropriate. This, in turn, naturally raised agricultural workers' incentives and then, finally, production. The incentive effect of the individualization of usufruct rights, that is to say, residual claimancy, is thus one of the most studied - and also one of the most commonly acknowledged - expected benefits of privatization.

Finally, the granting of abusus rights to individuals allows them to trade in land sales or rental markets, permitting both an allocation of land plots to the most efficient farmers and a transfer of land from individuals, leaving agriculture to the ones remaining in farming activities. The possibility of land transfers should then increase land allocation efficiency. Deininger and Feder (2001) and Deininger (2003) provide a good discussion of this allocative mechanism. Although numerous empirical studies have enquired into the determinants and consequences of land markets, few have specifically and rigorously guestioned their impact on allocative efficiency. Deininger and Jin (2005) have shown that land allocation through markets is more efficient than administrative reallocation in the case of China. They allow out-migrants or off-farm workers to rent out their land, and the most efficient farmers to rent land. More recently, in an in-depth study on India, Deininger, Jin, and Nagarajan (2009) have shown that land sale markets have significantly improved economic efficiency, indicated by an equalization of factor ratios across households, and have especially given better opportunities to poorer individuals.

Securing means the increase in the degree of security of the different rights granted to the individual. Rights are more secure when they are less prone to public as well as private abuses. The first direct negative consequence of insecurity is that it attenuates the extent of individual rights. Indeed, the significance, and as a consequence the effects, of the aforementioned individual rights on land will be limited if these rights are insecure. Securing rights consequently makes it possible to reap all the benefits of individualized rights as outlined above. However, securing is also seen as having beneficial consequences per se. Three main aspects have been well identified.

First, if their rights are insecure, individuals can act in ways that increase the degree of security of their rights at the expense of economic efficiency. To put it another way, agents have to include security concerns besides - and at the expense of - those of production and efficiency. If individuals have to spend resources on securing their rights, the level of enforcement and the amount of resources devoted to it is not likely to be socially optimal. This has been delineated theoretically, for example, by de Meza and Gould (1992), in the case where individuals would have to individually enforce private use rights over an asset. Besley and Ghatak (forthcoming) show that the need to secure property rights can divert labor from productive uses. As for the empirical aspect, the most well-known study deals with Peruvian slums, where Field (2007) demonstrates that people living in urban dwellings without clear property rights had a constrained participation in labor markets, for they had to spend time in their home in order to assert such rights. As for rural land, in a very similar manner, Alston, Libecap, and Mueller (1999) see the diversion of labor toward unproductive uses, for the protection of land rights, as one the main costs of land rights insecurity in studied regions of the Brazilian frontier.

Second, property rights insecurity over an asset such as land reduces the time horizon of the benefits an individual can hope to get from that asset. As a consequence, the agent will favor short-term benefits over those that are longer term and less sure. This quite straightforward idea has given rise to a vast empirical literature on the existence

and scope of this effect. Classical and well-known empirical studies include Feder et al. (1988) on Thailand; Besley (1995), Goldstein and Udry (2008) on Ghana; Deininger and Jin (2006) on Ethiopia; and Jacoby, Li, and Rozelle (2002) on China. Feder and Nishio (1998) provide a precise discussion of the empirical evidence. For example, the aforementioned work of Jacoby, Li, and Rozelle (2002) on China estimates expropriation risks for different villages, households and plots, and shows that land rights insecurity decreases the use of organic fertilizer, which has longlasting improving effects on soil quality, whereas it does not affect chemical fertilizer, which only has short-term effects. Land rights insecurity consequently unambiguously seems to shorten farmers' time-horizon, and thus decrease investments on land. This effect of securing usufruct rights is probably one of the most acknowledged and documented aspects of the privatization of land rights. As such, it has also received - and continued to be the focus of - particular attention in rural land policies design, and has become one of the leading principles in the recommendations of the World Bank (Deininger and Binswanger, 1999, World Bank, 2003).

Finally, secured and well-established property rights, when they include individual alienation rights, allow land to become collateral. Indeed, when abusus rights are individual and secure, lenders will agree to take land as a quarantee in the credit market. This is especially the case when land is formally registered and titled. This effect has been made extremely popular by de Soto (2000), who sees the collateralization of land as the determinant of capital accumulation and development, and consequently as the very root of Western economic success. Eswaran and Kotwal (1986) provide a review of the early literature on the subject, while Besley and Ghatak (forthcoming) offer a simple theoretical illustration. This mechanism has gained some empirical support in developing countries. It has been shown to take place, for example, in the cases of Thailand (Feder et al., 1988, Siamwalla, 1990), and Peru (Guirkinger and Boucher, 2008). In Thailand, Siamwalla (1990) has evidenced that access to formal credit, through commercial banks or cooperatives, and to long-term loans, whether from formal and informal lenders, was conditioned by land titling, which allowed land to be used as collateral.

**Specification** Finally, the process of specification represents the increase in the degree of detail or precision of the bundle of rights granted to an individual. The first effect of specification is through security. Indeed, unclear land rights naturally create uncertainty about their scope, and thus insecurity over their exact definition. To take a representative example, lack of clarity is especially obvious in China, where the introduction of the "Household Responsibility System" has blurred the identity of the authority that actually owns land, and where the lack of legal knowledge of peasants, combined with a great flexibility in the implementation of official regulations, make the exact extent of the individual farmer's bundle of rights quite unclear (Ho, 2001). In Uganda, the lack of precise legal knowledge of land legislation, and the consecutive imprecision of the actual bundle of peasants' rights, has been shown to bear the same consequences as insecurity (Deininger, Ali, and Yamano, 2008).

Moreover, and maybe more importantly, more specific, more extended and more precise individual rights allow agents to contract over more dimensions of their interactions, and thus to internalize, through

contractualization, more externalities. This role of precise property rights in allowing the internalization of externalities is at the core of Demsetz's (1967) founding paper on property rights. The main externality has been identified at the beginning of this section and is associated with the over-exploitation of common-pool resources. However, this is far from being the only possible source of externalities in the context of rural land use. Indeed, agricultural production, as well as non-agricultural uses of land, are likely to display strong externalities in developing countries. For example, the dangers of pesticide use (Wilson and Tisdell, 2001) are well-known. However, this aspect of land and land-related rights in developing countries has received almost no empirical attention. The only dimension of this issue that has aroused some debate, and for which the specification of individual rights and the development of markets have been seen as solutions, is water management (Rosegrant and Binswanger, 1994, Dinar, Rosegrant, and Meinzen-Dick, 1997). Prime examples of the setting up of water markets through clearly delineated property rights are, in developing countries, Chile (in 1976) and Mexico (in 1992), as mentioned in Rosegrant and Binswanger (1994).

#### 1.3 Endogenous and exogenous privatization

# 1.3.1 The "simple story" of land rights emergence: the evolutionist view

privatization of land rights, The through individualization, securing and specification, thus brings numerous benefits, and can be of momentous significance for agricultural efficiency. However, private land rights, according to the "simple story" (Eggertsson, 1990), will only emerge and become established gradually, as they are costly to define and enforce. Individualization, securing and specification will consequently be progressive, as their expected benefits outweigh the costs of setting them up. This evolutionary view of private property rights, rooted in the founding article of Demsetz (1967), leads to the expectation that demographic growth and economic development - technological progress and growth in trade especially - will lead to the privatization of property rights,

as it increases land value and thus privatization benefits. Some empirical studies support this view. In particular, the aforementioned work of Alston, Libecap, and Mueller (1999) on the Brazilian frontier, or the studies of Ault and Rutman (1979), Feder and Noronha (1987) and Migot-Adholla et al. (1991) on Sub-Saharan Africa, have shown that the development of agriculture, the sophistication of technology and the integration into markets have led to an increasing demand for private rights, which has fueled endogenous institutional change.

#### 1.3.2 The case for external intervention

However, this evolutionist point of view also generally militates for an exogenously initiated privatization of land rights. Indeed, external agents can have expertise that will lower the costs of privatization, while they can, technically or financially, bear some of these costs, as stressed by the World Bank (2003). Furthermore, political institutions, such as local or traditional authorities, or powerful persons such as wealthier households, can have both the means and the interest to oppose the privatization of land rights. Indeed, this process is quite likely to bring about a redistribution of the benefits of rural land, and if potential losers are in a position to resist, it is quite likely that privatization will come to a halt. For example, Conning and Robinson (2007) formally recall that land rights are a political issue, and that political concerns and processes can lead to inefficient land rights arrangements, a mechanism they empirically verify in the case of India. For their part, as rich and powerful individuals are likely to have the means to reap the benefits of poorly functioning institutional arrangements and of poor property rights, they can oppose privatization. This has been made clear in the case of transition Russia (Sonin, 2003). As for land rights in developing countries, similar

phenomena can potentially arise. This calls for the intervention of an external agent that can overcome the resistance of vested interests.

However, it appears that external interventions have often been opposed or unsuccessful, as documented by Bassett (1993) or Firmin-Sellers and Sellers (1999) in the case of Sub-Saharan Africa or, more generally, by Sjaastad and Cousins (2009). For example, in Cameroon, studied by Firmin-Sellers and Sellers (1999), the Land Ordinance of 1974 made land titling only optional and voluntary, and entitlement had very little take-up in rural areas. We will seek in the next section to identify causes behind these phenomena. We will not consider reasons linked to badly designed property rights or poorly implemented programs, but we will attempt to understand why peasants in developing countries may have opposed more private, secure and specific property rights.

### 2. Peasants against Privatization

There are two main kinds of reasons why the privatization of land rights can be opposed by the very persons that are supposed to benefit from it. The first one is linked with efficiency: it appears that the beneficial effects of private property rights enumerated in the previous section do depend, and to a great extent, on the context. In some

situations, these benefits are not to be expected. The second reason is a distributive one. Even if the privatization of land rights is optimal, and actually leads to an increase in overall surplus, it is possible that its distribution does not benefit peasants, or only a minority of them. These two issues are respectively discussed in this section.

#### 2.1 Preliminary remark: Privatization and formalization

First, as a preliminary remark, the following discussion of the efficiency and distributive effects of privatization should not be confused with a debate on the necessity of formalization. Formalization, or land titling, can correspond to the epitome of privatization. However, the privatization phenomenon considered here concerns actual economic rights, whereas formalization is a legal or administrative process that affects legal property rights and their enforcement. The formalization of land rights naturally has an impact on the extent and scope of actual economic rights, which are considered here, but the discussion on the necessity or benefits of the formalization of land rights is slightly different.

Indeed, the debate on the formalization of land rights, or land titling, has been quite active, especially since it has become one of the main policy prescriptions of the World Bank (1975), and since it has gained momentous visibility under the advocacy of Hernando de Soto (see especially de Soto, 2000). However, the discussion that has followed about formalization covers two main kinds of arguments. The first line of criticism holds that the formalization of land rights is not always necessary, as the privatization of actual rights is not beneficial. This dimension of the discussion will be addressed in the remaining part of this section, as part

of the overall issue of privatization. However, a second line of argument on formalization aims at showing that it is not always necessary, as informal or traditional land systems can sometimes offer a degree of privatization - that is to say individual, secure and private rights - that makes formalization or land titling superfluous, or non costeffective. This second way of reasoning then opposes, in some contexts, formalization, without denying the need for privatization. This seems to be, for example, one of the main principles behind the new land rights policy recommendations of the World Bank (see for example Deininger and Binswanger, 1999, and World Bank, 2003). This is backed by some empirical studies, especially in the case of Africa. For example, the aforementioned work of Migot-Adholla et al. (1991) on Sub-Saharan Africa shows that traditional land systems have evolved in response to economic growth and market development, and that formal titling would be a marginal improvement, if any. As for the specific link between land rights institutions, land rights security and investment, Pinckney and Kimuyu (1994) and Carter, Wiebe, and Blarel (1994), for example, have shown in the case of Kenya that the formalization of land rights had little effect on tenure security when compared with endogenous institutional evolution, and as such was superfluous.

There is then a literature on the formalization of land rights which tends to show that land titling and the development of legal land rights are superfluous in some situations, as actual economic rights are sufficiently developed, that is to say they guarantee a sufficient degree of individualization,

security and specificity. This review of the literature is more concerned with the inefficiency of, or opposition to, the privatization of actual land rights, which is discussed in the remaining part of this section.

#### 2.2 Privatization: Cases of inefficiency

In this section, we will discuss why, or under which circumstances, the efficiency gains associated with the various dimensions of privatization can fail to materialize, or even turn into losses.

# 2.2.1 Individualization of use rights: Unnecessary or dangerous

The first argument in favor of privatization holds that the individualization of land use rights prevents the "tragedy of the commons". However, it has appeared that in many cases, common use of land and land-related resources has not led to their over-exploitation and eventual depletion. Feeny et al. (1990) and Ostrom (1990) were the first works to give extended theoretical and empirical evidence on this issue. Indeed, if individual use rights, including exclusive rights - that is to say a right to exclude others - to a resource, can potentially limit the "tragedy of the commons" phenomenon, other institutional arrangements are possible. First, access to a common resource can be regulated and monitored by a State authority, instead of being controlled by private property rights, as underlined by Ophuls (1973). However, as stressed by Feeny et al. (1990), this solution has seldom emerged or been successful in developing countries, as State institutions and government authorities are not likely to have the means to effectively control and monitor resources. One well-known example cited by Feeny et al. (1990) is the significant worsening of deforestation in Nepal following the nationalization of forest land in 1957 (Bromley and Chapagain, 1984). Further and more recent evidence is provided by Baland and Platteau (2003), which shows through empirical studies on direct State interventions, whether they took place in Africa, Latin

America, or India, generally end up failing. A second institutional solution is then local, and corresponds to the setting up of communal or collective devices to regulate and control access to and the use of common resources. For example, in the aforementioned case of Nepal, the State finally decided to devolve, that is to say to give back, the right to manage forest land to village authorities, with some success (Edmonds, 2002). There is today a vast literature, both empirical and theoretical, on this issue in order to account for the existence and success or failure of such local and decentralized arrangements. One of the most upto-date and critical reviews of evidence is provided by Baland and Platteau (2003). On the theoretical side, Ostrom (2002) provides a synthetic yet convincing summary of the conditions under which local institutional arrangements for common-pool resources are likely to be efficient. This requires, generally speaking, sound monitoring and possible sanctioning, as well as individuals' participation in establishing rules. Empirical evidence on cases of State or privatization failure compared with local collective agreements, however, remains scant. Sneath (1998), for example, attributes the rapid degradation of grassland in Russia and China, compared with neighboring and similar regions of Mongolia, to the fact that the latter respected and promoted traditional pastoral institutions, whereas the former resorted to State or private property. At the same time, privatization can lead to an underutilization of common resources, rather than to overexploitation and depletion, as shown theoretically by Buchanan and Yoon (2000), if exclusion rights to the resource have an overdeterrent effect. However, the relevance for rural land and land-related resources in developing countries remains to be empirically verified.

# 2.2.2 Individualization of use rights: The externality problem

The second expected gain of the individualization of use rights is an allocative one: decentralized equilibrium, brought about by individual decisions, should dominate collective or State allocation, notably because of information problems. However, this will only be the case if there are no externalities, or if the externalities are well internalized through individual contracts. If individual rights are not specific enough, or if individual contracting on externalities is too costly, then collective or State regulations should constrain individual actions. In cases where rights are not well specified, contracts are costly to set up and enforce, and collective regulations are not well designed, it is quite likely that the individualization of use rights - that is to say the granting of more freedom to agents in the use of their asset - will not lead to the social optimum because of externalities, when everyone seeks his own profit. To put it another way, in a context where externalities are numerous and hard to measure, and institutions defective, then it is quite likely that individual gains from more freedom of use will be overweighted by the social cost. Among many other studies, Griffin and Bromley (1982) underscore that agricultural run-off can constitute a non-point externality, that is to say an externality that cannot be measured, while an important literature points to the numerous, pervasive and costly externalities of modern agriculture in developed countries (see, for example, Pimentel et al., 1992, Pretty et al., 2000, and Pretty et al., 2001). Rural land and land-related resources in developing countries are quite likely to be in a context where negative externalities take place, and this situation is bound to get worse as economic development occurs, because modern agricultural techniques can potentially create more externalities than traditional ones. Empirical evidence remains quite scant, but Rola and Pingali (1993) and Antle and Pingali (1994) have shown that the development of pesticide use in the Philippines had a strong impact on farmers' health, and consequently on productivity. Antle and Pingali (1994) also underline that it does not seem that pesticide issues are handled properly, and that State intervention, through direct or indirect control of pesticides, is consequently necessary. Moreover, the extension of urban space and of industrial activities at the expense of rural and agricultural land is likely to display numerous externalities, leading to a socially inefficient equilibrium, as shown formally by Parker and Meretsky (2004). Public or collective regulations can then be necessary to circumvent individual action, as recognized by the World Bank (2003), which advocates zoning regulations if necessary. However, besides common-pool resource externalities leading to the aforementioned "tragedy of the commons" - and despite quite clear theoretical and practical intuition - this issue of externalities has, so far, received almost no attention from empirical research in developing countries because of the different types of rural land use currently being developed.

# 2.2.3 Individualization of usufruct rights: The risks of residual claimancy

One of the most hotly debated and much discussed topics in economics about the link between peasants and land has been the problem of the individualization of usufruct rights. Indeed, as argued above, residual claimancy on the product of land by the individual actually working on it should unambiguously increase the latter's effort, and therefore production, and subsequently bring about improved results. In particular, in tenancy relationships, which are quite common in developing countries, whereby the individual who actually works on land is not its owner, straightforward agency theory reasoning comes to the conclusion that the best arrangement is a fixed-rent tenancy agreement. However, it appears sharecropping and fixed-wage agreements are widely practiced. This diversity of arrangements has been synthetically stated in Hayami and Otsuka (1993) and Binswanger, Deininger, and Feder (1995) and, more recently, in Otsuka (2007). As a consequence, a vast literature has emerged to explain this variation, and it is now acknowledged that fixed-rent arrangements and correlative residual claimancy for the tenant are not necessarily and univocally the optimal solution. Binswanger, Deininger, and Feder (1995) provide a good summary of the main reasons behind the non-adoption of fixed-rent contracts and the diversity of the actual arrangements. The most significant ones deserve to be briefly recapitulated. First, to have residual claimancy over

production also amounts to bearing the risk on production output, which is quite likely to be high in the agricultural sector in developing countries. This justifies the existence of sharecropping or fixed-wage arrangements. Second, the transaction between the land-owner and the tenant often includes other aspects than land and labor. In contexts where markets are quite imperfect, and especially where tenants are likely to have little access to credit markets, the landlord provides capital and means of production, in addition to management or possible agricultural skills. Contracts must then be designed to allow an efficient use of these inputs, and not only a maximal provision of effort by the tenant. Finally, inefficiencies due to the lack of effort in the absence of full residual claimancy can be mitigated by repeated contracts and reputation effects, which are quite likely to take place in rural communities in developing countries. As a consequence, residual claimancy through fixed-rent tenancy agreements does not always constitute the best available option. One of the very few studies that directly seeks to assess the possible loss due to residual claimancy is the work of Collier (1983) on Kenya, which measures that the ban on sharecropping agreements in this country represents a ten percent efficiency loss.

## **2.2.4 Individualization of abusus rights: The dangers of land transfers**

The individualization of alienation rights, that is to say rights to rent and sell land, should lead, as explained above, to a better allocation of resources, as it allows land to be transferred to the most efficient users. However, it appears that it is far from being the case. In particular, land sales have often ended up in suboptimal, inefficient situations, and have led to an increase in inequality. The efficiency of land sales is consequently widely called into question, and it is now often advised, for example by the World Bank (2003), to limit alienation rights to land rental, and to grant sales rights with great caution. Indeed, there are two main kinds of reasons for which land sales may not be efficiency-enhancing.

First, when credit markets and insurance markets do not function properly, which is quite likely to be the case in developing countries, and especially in rural areas,<sup>6</sup> the

price of land can be above the value of the stream of income derived from agricultural production, as it can incorporate other benefits, such as, for example, an inflation-protected store of value. At the same time, as there are constraints on borrowing, land acquisition is mainly financed through household savings. The first effect drives land prices above its agricultural value, while the second prevents poorer households from entering land markets. As a consequence, land sales markets tend not to transfer land to the most efficient users, but to wealthier households and to people who overvalue land compared with its agricultural use. A complete discussion of this issue can be found in Deininger and Feder (2001) and World Bank (2003). Empirical evidence in developing countries is still scant, but, for example, the work of Carter and Olinto (1998) on Paraguay has shown that land rental markets had efficiency and equity enhancing impacts, whereas land sales markets transferred land to wealthier, but not necessarily more productive, households.

A second dimension of the inefficiencies brought by land sales markets, which has received much more empirical attention, is the phenomenon of distress sales, which reinforces and worsens the aforementioned issues linked with land sales markets. Indeed, as agricultural production in developing countries can be highly variable, and as people have little access to credit and insurance, when a negative shock occurs they often have no choice but to try to sell their land. However, as agricultural productive shocks are likely to be highly correlated at the local level, there will be an excess of supply, which will drive prices down. Adversely affected households will then have no choice but to sell for a low value, and will then be unable to buy back land when their situation eventually gets better. Recent and detailed analyses are provided by Deininger and Feder (2001) and World Bank (2003). This phenomenon has received some empirical attention. The most well-known study is the work of Cain (1981) on comparable rural villages in India and Bangladesh in the years 1960-1980, which shows that where insurance

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See Conning and Udry (2007) for a recent review of the evidence.

schemes existed, land sales responded to productive and allocative efficiency motives, whereas in places where no such schemes were available, a vast majority of land sales took place in order to meet short-term consumption needs. Historically, distress sales have played an important role in land concentration, especially when communal arrangements were made to deal with risk, as shown for example by Brockett (1988) for the case of Latin America.

Generally speaking, the granting to individuals and households of the right to sell their land does not seem to lead to an improvement of efficiency. It is much more likely to end up with land concentration. The exercise of individual alienation rights should then be controlled or limited. This is what is advised today by the World Bank (2003) for example.

#### 2.2.5 Securing and investment

The first two, and most well acknowledged, aforementioned benefits associated with the securing of individual land use rights concern investment behavior. Land rights insecurity can indeed divert resources from productive investment, for the time horizon is shortened, with such resources being used to defend and protect rights. However, this effect can be cancelled, or even reversed. Indeed, quite intuitively, if productive investments increase the degree of land rights security that individuals have over their plots, then insecurity can actually act as an incentive to increase investment. This straightforward idea has been formalized by Sjaastad and Bromley (1997). There is today quite an extensive literature on the effect of investment and tenure security. Besley (1995) was one of the first to explicitly and carefully deal with this issue, in the case of Ghana, while, more recently, Brasselle, Gaspart, and Platteau (2002) carried out an empirical study especially dedicated to this mechanism, using data collected for this purpose in Burkina Faso. They actually find that land rights security is influenced by an individual's investment over his plot, and when this effect is taken into account, securing land does not increase investment. As a consequence, securing does not necessarily increase - nor does it necessarily decrease - investment, as insecure land rights can already provide the right incentives for investment.

#### 2.2.6 The shortcomings of collateralization

As for the collateralization effect of land rights securing, which has been extremely popular among policymakers due to the publicity made by de Soto (2000), its actual effect is today widely discussed. Indeed, a sizeable majority of studies dealing with the effect of land rights securing on credit access found very little or no impact. Land collateralization will only actually provide farmers with better access to credit if this collateral can modify lenders' behavior. If there are no formal lenders, or if the main constraint on credit markets is not creditworthiness but high transaction costs, which cannot be reduced by the use of collateral, then the use of land as collateral is likely to have no effect. At least one of these two conditions holds in most rural areas of developing countries, which could explain why a number of studies found no effect of collateralization. Conning and Udry (2007) provide a synthetic review of existing empirical evidence. For example, aforementioned study of Brasselle, Gaspart, and Platteau (2002) found that the collateralization effect of land rights securing in the regions of Burkina Faso they surveyed did not operate, due to the absence of formal credit and of land markets.

#### 2.2.7 Specification and uncertainty

The first expected benefit of a clear-cut specification of individual rights is through its effect of increasing the security of rights. However, it seems that the process of specification can create rather than reduce insecurity, especially for the weakest individuals who hold land rights at the margins of traditional land systems. Indeed, these persons can fear that the specification of rights could end up by depriving them of their unclear and marginal traditional rights (see Platteau, 2000). Thus, the process of specification itself generates much uncertainty and insecurity.

Moreover, the specification of rights, which is often carried out by State or official agencies through land titling or registration, often adds a new dimension to institutional arrangements for land rights, instead of replacing them. Land rights can thus become more imprecise than before

the specification because they are defined by more dimensions. As Atwood puts it after his review of land rights systems in Africa, "uncertainty and insecurity can be exacerbated by the competing land tenure systems, or more precisely by the alternative methods available to enterprising individuals to establish or pursue land claims" (Atwood, 1990, p. 667). The process of land rights specification can therefore increase insecurity instead of reducing it.

#### 2.2.8 Specification and externalities

The second advantage of specifying individual rights is that it allows agents to contract over more dimensions of their actions, thanks to a higher degree of details. As a consequence, it allows people to internalize more externalities. For the time being, no such studies seem to have been made for land rights in developing countries properly, despite the existence of important externalities from both agricultural and non-agricultural land use. However, rights closely related to land, which can even be seen as being part of the bundle of rights over land, have

received much more attention as mentioned earlier, these rights concern water. Indeed, land use cannot be separated from water allocation processes. As water and water flows are subject to pervasive and mainly negative externalities, their allocation institutions constitute an interesting case study. A synthetic discussion of related issues can be found in Dinar, Rosegrant, and Meinzen-Dick (1997). In rural areas in developing countries, a diversity of institutional arrangements exists, from markets (as in Chile) to public agencies (the case of South Africa) and local communal arrangements (for example the Balinese Subaks in Indonesia). As noted by Rosegrant and Binswanger (1994) and Dinar, Rosegrant, and Meinzen-Dick (1997), since externalities in water uses can be extremely numerous, diversified and difficult to measure - while the geographical extent of issues cannot always guarantee the emergence of efficient market mechanisms - well-designed local mechanisms or sound State interventions can be efficiencyenhancing. This case simply underscores the general result that when there are strong externalities and private transaction costs are high, then well-designed collective and public solutions can be optimal.

#### 2.3 Distributive effects of privatization

The preceding section has highlighted that in situations where markets are imperfect, the privatization of land rights is not necessarily the best institutional arrangement. A second-best world calls for second-best solutions. However, even if the privatization of land rights enhances efficiency and thus generates a surplus, this process could still be opposed by peasants for distributive reasons. Indeed, this overall surplus created by such privatization is not likely to be evenly distributed. In the absence of compensation mechanisms, if privatization losers outnumber winners, then the process of privatization can be opposed. Two kinds of redistributive effects are possible: one among peasants themselves, and one between peasants and other economic actors.

#### 2.3.1 Winners and losers in the rural community

The process of privatization, whatever its dimension, level

of individualization, securing or specification, eventually leads to a redefinition and then to a redistribution of land rights. It can be expected that some peasants, probably the most educated, wealthiest or most powerful ones, can reap the main benefits, while others that are poorer or more marginalized are likely to be losers.

First, during the privatization itself, as it corresponds to a process of institutional change, some people are in a position to have land rights modified, individualized, secured or specified in a way that is favorable to their interests. For example, the study of Lastarria-Cornhiel (1997) on privatization processes in Sub-Saharan Africa has pinpointed that they were generally detrimental to women. The situation is even worse when privatization, through land registration or land titling, is not compulsory but voluntary. In this case, a strong bias in favor of the individuals involved in the project can appear. Poorer or more marginal land rights holders are,

of course, less likely to get registered. For example, in their indepth study of evolutions in local rural societies in Asia (mainly the Philippines and Indonesia), Hayami and Kikuchi (1982) show that the on-demand titling process was one of the factors behind the polarization of rural communities in Central Luson (Philippines). As institutional change is never neutral, the privatization of land rights necessarily redistributes these rights, and the examples given above show that this redistribution can be detrimental for some people.

Second, the benefits of privatization, or the surplus that private rights create, can be allocated in very uneven ways. Two main dimensions of privatization are especially at risk of generating inequality and polarizing society.

The first is through land sales. Indeed, as mentioned above, once land alienation rights are granted, peasants may have to resort to distress sales when negative shocks occur. However, households have different degrees of exposure to this risk, and wealthier ones are likely to enjoy ways of coping with adverse shocks that poorer peasants do not have. In such a context, land sales transactions potentially lead to a transfer of land from poorer to richer households instead of from less to more efficient ones. World Bank (2003) and Binswanger, Deininger, and Feder (1995) provide a synthetic discussion of these issues. One famous empirical case is that of Rwanda, studied by André and Platteau (1998), where acute land competition followed by unequal land transfers has led to land concentration, a growing population of landless people, and strong social tensions.

The second dimension of the privatization of land rights that could lead to inequality is through the collateralization effect and access to credit markets. Credit access constraints have considerable consequences on the distribution of wealth and on the structure of society. The collateralization of land should improve access to credit, and then benefit people that were disadvantaged. This issue was very cautiously analyzed by Carter and Olinto (2003) in the case of Paraguay, and it appeared that land titling and its use as collateral improved access to capital for owners of large areas of farm land. Poorer people remained as constrained as they were before. In this case, land titling and land collateralization thus have clear inequality-augmenting effects.

# 2.3.2 When benefits leave the peasant community

The redistributive effects of the privatization of land rights, even in the case where it is efficiency-enhancing and creates surplus, can also benefit individuals who are outside the peasant community. On the basis of mechanisms similar to the ones that have just been described above, privatization benefits can be reaped by people who are not engaged in the rural community or agricultural activities, or by capital lenders.

Indeed, when land can be sold, as mentioned above, its price can incorporate elements, such as its role as a protection against inflation, or a special tax treatment, which will raise its value above the stream of income generated by agricultural production. In this case, people who have both the interest and means to acquire land will not be members of the community or agricultural producers. Platteau (1996) gives a detailed review of the empirical evidence on market dysfunctions in land sales. For example, in the case of Kenya, Collier shows that for the reasons outlined above, "a considerable amount of land purchase has been undertaken by absentee urban high income groups" (Collier, 1983, p. 159). This worsens imbalance in land holdings and leads to an inefficient use of land. Dysfunctions in land sales markets, generally due to shortcomings in insurance mechanisms or capital markets as mentioned above, can then lead to a concentration of land in the hands of non-agricultural people.

Second, if credit markets do not function well, the entire surplus generated by the collateralization of land can be accrued to capital lenders. This has been shown theoretically by Besley and Ghatak (2009). In cases where borrowers are poor and market competition is weak, better defined property rights and the possibility of collateralization expose a larger amount of borrowers' wealth to foreclosure. Imperfect or imprecise property rights on land can therefore be seen as a protection against foreclosure. As Besley and Ghatak (2009) put it, "imperfect property rights protect the borrower". However, despite the quite intuitive nature of this mechanism, empirical evidence is still lacking.

#### Conclusion

The privatization of land rights, that is to say their individualization, securing and specification, has been seen as a natural evolution of agrarian systems in developing countries. In places where private land rights have not straightforward naturally emerged, а policy recommendation has consequently aimed to externally create them. Well-defined property rights and market allocation mechanisms were expected to bring about numerous and various benefits, from an improved allocation of economic resources to increased investments. However, private rights and markets have failed to fulfill their promises, not everywhere, but in a sufficient number of occurrences to call their optimality into question. Indeed, privatization has not always emerged as agriculture has developed. When it has been exogenously set up, often as land registration or land titling programs, it has not been univocally welcomed or successful. As a consequence, a significant literature has questioned the relevance of the privatization of land rights in developing countries. This paper has sought to summarize the main arguments, and to highlight the most important academic research in this field.

Two main lessons can be learned from this review. First, privatization is surely a first-best institutional arrangement, but as such, it will only be optimal in a first-best world. In rural areas in developing countries, where capital markets

seldom function, where insurance mechanisms are not available, and where people often live near the subsistence level, privatizing land rights is likely to do more harm than good. A second-best context calls for second-best policies. Second, privatization, even if relevant and efficiency-enhancing, is not neutral. Privatizing land rights can only lead to redistributing them, and the surplus generated by successful privatization can be reaped by individuals who are maybe not the first target of agrarian reforms, such as the wealthiest farmers, urban elite, or capital lenders. A trade-off between equity and efficiency can take place.

The efficiency and distribution effects of the privatization of land rights are thus highly dependent on the context, and its successes or failures are extremely variable and difficult to predict. However, the privatization of land rights is not a simple and univocal process. It covers three main rights, usus, usufructus and abusus, and is constituted of three main dimensions, individualization, securing and specification. This complexity leaves room for precise policy recommendations, depending on local situations. It can be hoped, as expressed by the World Bank (2003), that policymakers will take a more humble and cautious approach to land rights reforms in rural areas in developing countries, where complex and unique situations call for precisely defined institutional evolution.

#### References

- ACEMOGLU, D., S. JOHNSON and J. A. ROBINSON (2005), "Chapter 6: Institutions as a Fundamental Cause of Long-Run Growth", in *Handbook of Economic Growth*, ed. by P. Aghion, and S. N. Durlauf, vol. 1, Part 1, pp. 385–472, Elsevier.
- ACEMOGLU, D., S. JOHNSON and J. A. ROBINSON (2001), "The Colonial Origins of Comparative Development: An Empirical Investigation", *The American Economic Review*, 91(5), 1369–1401.
- ALCHIAN, A. (1965), "Some Economics of Property Rights", Il Politico, 30, 816-829.
- ALCHIAN, A. and H. DEMSETZ (1973), "The Property Right Paradigm", The Journal of Economic History, 33(1), 16-27.
- ALCHIAN, A. and H. DEMSETZ (1972), "Production, Information Costs, and Economic Organization", *The American Economic Review*, 62(5), 777–795.
- ALLEN, R. C. (2008), "Agriculture During the Industrial Revolution, 1700-1850", in *The Cambridge Economic History of Modern Britain Volume I: Industrialisation, 1700-1860*, ed. by R. Floud and P. Johnson, Cambridge University Press.
- ALSTON, L. J., G. D. LIBECAP and B. MUELLER (1999), *Titles, Conflict, and Land Use: The Development of Property Rights and Land Reform on the Brazilian Amazon Frontier*, University of Michigan Press.
- ANDERSON, T. L. and D. LEAL (1991), *Free Market Environmentalism*, Pacific Research Institute for Public Policy, Westview Press, San Francisco.
- ANDRÉ, C. and J.-P. PLATTEAU (1998), "Land Relations under Unbearable Stress: Rwanda Caught in the Malthusian Trap", Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization, 34(1), 1–47.
- ANTLE, J. M. and P. L. PINGALI (1994), "Pesticides, Productivity, and Farmer Health: A Philippine Case Study", *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 76(3), 418–430.
- ATWOOD, D. A. (1990), "Land Registration in Africa: The Impact on Agricultural Production", *World Development*, 18(5), 659–671.
- AULT, D. E. and G. L. RUTMAN (1979), "The Development of Individual Rights to Property in Tribal Africa", *Journal of Law & Economics*, 22(1), 163–82.
- BALAND, J.-M. and J.-P. PLATTEAU (2003), "Economics of Common Property Management Regimes", in *Handbook of Environmental Economics*, ed. by K. G. Mäler and J. R. Vincent, vol. 1 of *Handbook of Environmental Economics*, chap. 4, pp. 127–190, Elsevier.
- BANERJEE, A. V., P. J. GERTLER and M. GHATAK (2002), "Empowerment and Efficiency: Tenancy Reform in West Bengal", *The Journal of Political Economy*, 110(2), 239–280.
- BARBER, W. J. (1970), "Land Reform and Economic Change among African Farmers in Kenya", *Economic Development and Cultural Change*, 19(1), 6–24.
- BARZEL, Y. (1997), Economic Analysis of Property Rights, Cambridge University Press.
- BASSETT, T. J. (1993), "Introduction: The Land Question and Agricultural Transformation in Sub-Saharan Africa", in *Land in African Agrarian Systems*, ed. by T. Bassett and D. Crummey, University of Wisconsin Press.
- BESLEY, T. (1995), "Property Rights and Investment Incentives: Theory and Evidence from Ghana", *The Journal of Political Economy*, 103(5), 903–937.

- BESLEY, T. and M. GHATAK (forthcoming), "Property Rights and Economic Development", in *Handbook of Development Economics*, Vol. 5, ed. by D. Rodrik and M. Rosenzweig, Elsevier.
- BESLEY, T. J. and M. GHATAK (2009), "The de Soto Effect", CEPR Discussion Papers 7259, C.E.P.R. Discussion Papers.
- BINSWANGER, H. P., K. DEININGER and G. FEDER (1995), "Power, Distortions, Revolt and Reform in Agricultural Land Relations", in *Handbook of Development Economics*, ed. by H. Chenery and T. Srinivasan, vol. 3 of *Handbook of Development Economics*, chap. 42, Elsevier.
- BRASSELLE, A.-S., F. GASPART and J.-P. PLATTEAU (2002), "Land Tenure Security and Investment Incentives: Puzzling Evidence from Burkina Faso", *Journal of Development Economics*, 67(2), 373–418.
- BROCKETT, C. D. (1988), Land, power, and poverty: agrarian transformation and political conflict in Central America, Unwin Hyman, Boston.
- BROMLEY, D. W. and D. P. CHAPAGAIN (1984), "The Village against the Center: Resource Depletion in South Asia", *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 66(5), 868–873.
- BUCHANAN, J. and Y. YOON (2000), "Symmetric Tragedies: Commons and Anticommons", *The Journal of Law and Economics*, 43(1), 1–14.
- CAIN, M. (1981), "Risk and Insurance: Perspectives on Fertility and Agrarian Change in India and Bangladesh", *Population and Development Review*, 7(3), 435–474.
- CARTER, M. R. and P. OLINTO (2003), "Getting Institutions 'Right' for Whom? Credit Constraints and the Impact of Property Rights on the Quantity and Composition of Investment", *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 85(1), 173–186.
- CARTER, M. R. and P. OLINTO (1998), "Do the Poor but Efficient Survive in the Land Market? Capital Access and Land Accumulation in Paraguay", in XXI *International Congress of the Latin American Studies Association*.
- CARTER, M. R., K. D. WIEBE and B. BLAREL (1994), "Tenure Security for Whom? Differential Effects of Land Policy in Kenya", in *Searching for Land Tenure Security in Africa*, ed. by J. W. Bruce and S. E. Migot-Adholla, Kendall/Hunt Publishing Cy.
- CHEN, L., J. WANG, B. FU and Y. QIU (2001), "Land-Use Change in a Small Catchment of Northern Loess Plateau, China", Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 86(2), 163–172.
- CLARKE, D., P. MURRELL and S. WHITING (2008), "Chapter 11: The Role of Law in China's Economic Development", in *China's Great Economic Transformation*, ed. by L. Brandt and T. G. Rawski, Cambridge University Press.
- COASE, R. H. (1960), "The Problem of Social Cost", The Journal of Law and Economics, 3(1), 1.
- COASE, R. H. (1937), "The Nature of the Firm", *Economica*, 4(16), 386–405.
- COLLIER, P. (1983), "Malfunctioning of African Rural Factor Markets: Theory and a Kenyan Example", Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics, 45(2), 141–72.
- CONNING, J. H. and J. A. ROBINSON (2007), "Property Rights and the Political Organization of Agriculture", *Journal of Development Economics*, 82(2), 416–447.
- CONNING, J. and C. UDRY (2007), Rural Financial Markets in Developing Countries, vol. 3 of Handbook of Agricultural Economics, chap. 56, pp. 2857–2908, Elsevier.
- DE ALESSI, L. (1987), "Property Rights and Privatization", Proceedings of the Academy of Political Science, 36(3), 24–35.
- DE ALESSI, L. (1980), "The Economics of Property Rights: A Review of the Evidence", *Research in Law and Economics*, 2, 1–47.
- DE MEZA, D. and J. R. GOULD (1992), "The Social Efficiency of Private Decisions to Enforce Property Rights", *The Journal of Political Economy*, 100(3), 561–580.
- DE SOTO, H. (2000), The Mystery of Capital: Why Capitalism Triumphs in the West and Fails Everywhere Else, Basic Books,
- DEININGER, K. (2003), Land Policies for Growth and Poverty Reduction, World Bank, Washington DC.

- DEININGER, K., D. A. ALI and T. YAMANO (2008), "Legal Knowledge and Economic Development: The Case of Land Rights in Uganda", *Land Economics*, 84(4), 593–619.
- DEININGER, K. and H. BINSWANGER (1999), "The Evolution of the World Bank's Land Policy: Principles, Experience, and Future Challenges", World Bank Research Observer, 14(2), 247–76.
- DEININGER, K. and G. FEDER (2009), "Land Registration, Governance, and Development: Evidence and Implications for Policy", World Bank Research Observer, 24(2), 233–266.
- DEININGER, K. and G. FEDER (2001), "Land Institutions and Land Markets", in *Handbook of Agricultural Economics*, ed. by B. L. Gardner and G. C. Rausser, vol. 1, Elsevier.
- DEININGER, K. and S. JIN (2006), "Tenure Security and Land-Related Investment: Evidence from Ethiopia", *European Economic Review*, 50(5), 1245–1277.
- DEININGER, K. and S. JIN (2005), "The Potential of Land Rental Markets in the Process of Economic Development: Evidence from China", *Journal of Development Economics*, 78(1), 241–270.
- DEININGER, K., S. JIN and H. K. NAGARAJAN (2009), "Determinants and Consequences of Land Sales Market Participation: Panel Evidence from India", *World Development*, 37(2), 410–421.
- DEMSETZ, H. (1967), "Toward a Theory of Property Rights", The American Economic Review, 57(2), 347-359.
- DINAR, A., M. W. ROSEGRANT and R. MEINZEN-DICK (1997), "Water Allocation Mechanisms: Principles and Examples", Policy Research Working Paper Series, The World Bank.
- EASTERLY, W. and R. LEVINE (2003), "Tropics, Germs, and Crops: How Endowments Influence Economic Development", Journal of Monetary Economics, 50(1), 3–39.
- EDMONDS, E. V. (2002), "Government-Initiated Community Resource Management and Local Resource Extraction from Nepal's Forests", *Journal of Development Economics*, 68(1), 89–115.
- EGGERTSSON, T. (1990), Economic Behavior and Institutions, Cambridge University Press.
- ESWARAN, M. and A. KOTWAL (1986), "Access to Capital and Agrarian Production Organisation", *The Economic Journal*, 96(382), 482–498.
- FAN, S. (1991), "Effects of Technological Change and Institutional Reform on Production Growth in Chinese Agriculture", American Journal of Agricultural Economics, 73(2), 266–275.
- FEDER, G. and D. FEENY (1991), "Land Tenure and Property Rights: Theory and Implications for Development Policy", *World Bank Economic Review*, 5(1), 135–53.
- FEDER, G. and A. NISHIO (1998), "The Benefits of Land Registration and Titling: Economic and Social Perspectives", *Land Use Policy*, 15(1), 25–43.
- FEDER, G. and R. NORONHA (1987), "Land Rights Systems and Agricultural Development in Sub-Saharan Africa", *World Bank Research Observer*, 2(2), 143–169.
- FEDER, G., T. ONCHAN, Y. CHALAMWONG and C. HANGLADORAN (1988), Land Policies and Farm Productivity in Thailand, Johns Hopkins University Press, Baltimore.
- FEENY, D., F. BERKES, B. MCCAY and J. ACHESON (1990), "The Tragedy of the Commons: Twenty-Two Years Later", Human Ecology, 18(1), 1–19.
- FIELD, E. (2007), "Entitled to Work: Urban Property Rights and Labor Supply in Peru", *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 122(4), 1561–1602.
- FIRMIN-SELLERS, K. and P. SELLERS (1999), "Expected Failures and Unexpected Successes of Land Titling in Africa", World Development, 27(7), 1115–1128.
- FISCHER, S. and R. SAHAY (2000), "The Transition Economies After Ten Years", NBER Working Papers 7664, National Bureau of Economic Research, Inc.
- FRIEDMAN, M. and R. FRIEDMAN (1980), Free to Choose: A Personal Statement, Macmillan, Melbourne.

- GEERTZ, C. (1963), *Agricultural Involution: The Process of Ecological Change in Indonesia*, Association of Asian Studies by University of California Press, Berkeley.
- GOLDSTEIN, M. and C. UDRY (2008), "The Profits of Power: Land Rights and Agricultural Investment in Ghana", *Journal of Political Economy*, 116(6), 981–1022.
- GRIFFIN, R. C. and D. W. BROMLEY (1982), "Agricultural Runoff as a Nonpoint Externality: A Theoretical Development", American Journal of Agricultural Economics, 64(3), 547–552.
- GUIRKINGER, C. and S. R. BOUCHER (2008), "Credit Constraints and Productivity in Peruvian Agriculture", *Agricultural Economics*, 39(3), 295–308.
- HARDIN, G. (1968), "The Tragedy of the Commons", Science, 162, 1243-47.
- HAYAMI, Y. and M. KIKUCHI (1982), Asian Village Economy at the Crossroads: An Economic Approach to Institutional Change, University of Tokyo Press, Johns Hopkins University Press, Tokyo, Baltimore.
- HAYAMI, Y. and K. OTSUKA (1993), *The Economics of Contract Choice: An Agrarian Perspective*, Clarendon Press, Oxford University Press, Oxford, New York.
- HESTON, A. and T. SICULAR (2008), "Chapter 2: China and Development Economics", in *China's Great Economic Transformation*, ed. by L. Brandt and T. G. Rawski, Cambridge University Press.
- HO, P. (2001), "Who Owns China's Land? Policies, Property Rights and Deliberate Institutional Ambiguity", *The China Quarterly*, 166(-1), 394–421.
- JACOBY, H. G., G. LI and S. ROZELLE (2002), "Hazards of Expropriation: Tenure Insecurity and Investment in Rural China", American Economic Review, 92(5), 1420–1447.
- KUNG, J. K. (1995), "Equal Entitlement versus Tenure Security under a Regime of Collective Property Rights: Peasants' Preference for Institutions in Post-reform Chinese Agriculture", *Journal of Comparative Economics*, 21(1), 82–111.
- LAGEMANN, J. (1977), Traditional African Farming Systems in Eastern Nigeria: An Analysis of Reaction to Increasing Population Pressure, Weltforum Verlag, Munich.
- LASTARRIA-CORNHIEL, S. (1997), "Impact of Privatization on Gender and Property Rights in Africa", *World Development*, 25(8), 1317–1333.
- LIN, J. Y. (1992), "Rural Reforms and Agricultural Growth in China," The American Economic Review, 82(1), 34-51.
- LIN, J. Y. (1988), "The Household Responsibility System in China's Agricultural Reform: A Theoretical and Empirical Study", *Economic Development and Cultural Change*, 36(3), S199–S224.
- LOPEZ, R. (1998), "The Tragedy of the Commons in Cote d'Ivoire Agriculture: Empirical Evidence and Implications for Evaluating Trade Policies," *World Bank Economic Review*, 12(1), 105–131.
- LOPEZ, R. (1997), "Environmental Externalities in Traditional Agriculture and the Impact of Trade Liberalization: The Case of Ghana", *Journal of Development Economics*, 53(1), 17–39.
- MANTOUX, P. (1961), The Industrial Revolution in the Eighteenth Century: An Outline of the Beginnings of the Modern Factory System in England, Routledge.
- MARX, K. (1867), Capital: A Critique of Political Economy (I): The Process of Capitalist Production, vol. 1, McMaster University Archive for the History of Economic Thought.
- MCMILLAN, J., J. WHALLEY and L. ZHU (1989), "The Impact of China's Economic Reforms on Agricultural Productivity Growth", *The Journal of Political Economy*, 97(4), 781–807.
- MIGOT-ADHOLLA, S., P. HAZELL, B. BLAREL and F. PLACE (1991), "Indigenous Land Rights Systems in Sub-Saharan Africa: A Constraint on Productivity?", *World Bank Econ Rev.* 5(1), 155–175.
- MOKYR, J. (1999), "Editor's Introduction: The New Economic History and the Industrial Revolution", in *The British Industrial Revolution: An Economic Perspective*, ed. by J. Mokyr, Westview Press, 2nd ed.
- NORTH, D. C. (1990), Institutions, Institutional Change, and Economic Performance. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

- NORTH, D. C. and R. P. THOMAS (1973), *The Rise of The Western World: A New Economic History*, Cambridge University Press.
- O'BRIEN, P. K. (1996), "Path Dependency, or Why Britain Became an Industrialized and Urbanized Economy Long before France", *The Economic History Review*, 49(2), 213–249.
- OPHULS, W. (1973), "Leviathan or Oblivion", in Toward a Steady State Economy, ed. by H. Daley, W. H. Freeman.
- OSTROM, E. (2002), "Chapter 24: Common-Pool Resources and Institutions: Toward a Revised Theory", in *Agriculture and its External Linkages*, ed. by B. L. Gardner and G. C. Rausser, vol. 2, Part 1 of *Handbook of Agricultural Economics*, pp. 1315–1339, Elsevier.
- OSTROM, E. (1990), *Governing the Commons: The Evolution of Institutions for Collective Action*, Political Economy of Institutions and Decisions, Cambridge University Press.
- OTSUKA, K. (2007), Efficiency and Equity Effects of Land Markets, vol. 3 of Handbook of Agricultural Economics, chap. 51, pp. 2671–2703, Elsevier.
- OTSUKA, K., H. CHUMA and Y. HAYAMI (1992), "Land and Labor Contracts in Agrarian Economies: Theories and Facts", Journal of Economic Literature, 30(4), 1965–2018.
- OTSUKA, K. and Y. HAYAMI (1988), "Theories of Share Tenancy: A Critical Survey", *Economic Development and Cultural Change*, 37(1), 31–68.
- PARKER, D. C. and V. MERETSKY (2004), "Measuring Pattern Outcomes in an Agent-Based Model of Edge-Effect Externalities Using Spatial Metrics", *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 101(2-3), 233–250.
- PERKINS, D. H. (1988), "Reforming China's Economic System", Journal of Economic Literature, 26(2), 601-645.
- PIMENTEL, D., H. ACQUAY, M. BILTONEN, P. RICE, M. SILVA, J. NELSON, V. LIPNER, S. GIORDANO, A. HOROWITZ and M. D'AMORE (1992), "Environmental and Economic Costs of Pesticide Use", *BioScience*, 42(10), 750–760.
- PINCKNEY, T. C. and P. K. KIMUYU (1994), "Land Tenure Reform in East Africa: Good, Bad or Unimportant?", *Journal of African Economies*, 3(1), 1–28.
- PLATTEAU, J. P. (2000), "Does Africa need land reform?", in *Evolving Land rights, policy and tenure in Africa*, ed. by C. Toulmin and J. Quan, pp. 51–76, IIED.
- PLATTEAU, J.P. (1996), "The Evolutionary Theory of Land Rights as Applied to Sub-Saharan Africa: A Critical Assessment", Development and Change, 27(1), 29–86.
- PRETTY, J., C. BRETT, D. GEE, R. HINE, C. MASON, J. MORISON, M. RAYMENT, G. V. D. BIJL and T. DOBBS (2001), "Policy Challenges and Priorities for Internalizing the Externalities of Modern Agriculture", *Journal of Environmental Planning and Management*, 44(2), 263–283.
- PRETTY, J. N., C. BRETT, D. GEE, R. E. HINE, C. F. MASON, J. I. L. MORISON, H. RAVEN, M. D. RAYMENT and G. VAN DER BIJL (2000), "An Assessment of the Total External Costs of UK Agriculture", *Agricultural Systems*, 65(2), 113–136.
- RODRIK, D. (2006), "Goodbye Washington Consensus, Hello Washington Confusion? A Review of the World Bank's Economic Growth in the 1990s: Learning from a Decade of Reform", *Journal of Economic Literature*, 44(4), 973–987.
- RODRIK, D., A. SUBRAMANIAN and F. TREBBI (2004), "Institutions Rule: The Primacy of Institutions Over Geography and Integration in Economic Development", *Journal of Economic Growth*, 9(2), 131–165.
- ROLA, A. C. and P. L. PINGALI (1993), *Pesticides, Rice Productivity, and Farmers' Health: An Economic Assessment*, IRRI, World Resources Institute, Manila, Washington DC.
- ROSEGRANT, M. W. and H. P. BINSWANGER (1994), "Markets in Tradable Water Rights: Potential for Efficiency Gains in Developing Country Water Resource Allocation", *World Development*, 22(11), 1613–1625.
- SHIRLEY, M. M. (2008), Institutions and Development. Edward Elgar Publishing Limited.
- SIAMWALLA, A. (1990), "The Thai Rural Credit System: Public Subsidies, Private Information, and Segmented Markets", World Bank Economic Review, 4(3), 271–95.

- SJAASTAD, E. and D. W. BROMLEY (2000), "The Prejudices of Property Rights: On Individualism, Specificity, and Security in Property Regimes", *Development Policy Review*, 18, 365–389.
- SJAASTAD, E. and D. W. BROMLEY (1997), "Indigenous Land Rights in Sub-Saharan Africa: Appropriation, Security and Investment Demand", *World Development*, 25(4), 549–562.
- SJAASTAD, E. and B. COUSINS (2009), "Formalisation of Land Rights in the South: An Overview", *Land Use Policy*, 26(1), 1–9.
- SNEATH, D. (1998), "State Policy and Pasture Degradation in Inner Asia", Science, 281(5380), 1147.
- SONIN, K. (2003), "Why the Rich May Favor Poor Protection of Property Rights", *Journal of Comparative Economics*, 31(4), 715–731.
- STARR, P. (1988), "The Meaning of Privatization", Yale Law & Policy Review, 6(1), pp. 6-41.
- SVEJNAR, J. (2002), "Transition Economies: Performance and Challenges", *The Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 16(1), 3–28.
- WILLIAMSON, J. (1990), "Chapter 2: What Washington Means by Policy Reform", in *Latin American Adjustment: How Much Has Happened?*, ed. by J. Williamson, Institute for International Economics.
- WILLIAMSON, O. E. (1975), Markets and Hierarchies, Analysis and Antitrust Implications: A Study in the Economics of Internal Organization, Free Press.
- WILSON, C. and C. TISDELL (2001), "Why Farmers Continue to Use Pesticides Despite Environmental, Health and Sustainability Costs", *Ecological Economics*, 39(3), 449–462.
- WORLD BANK (2003), Land Policies for Growth and Poverty Reduction, World Bank, Washington DC.
- WORLD BANK (1975), "Land Reform Policy Paper", Discussion paper, World Bank Land Reform Division.
- YIFU LIN, J. and J. B. NUGENT (1995), "Institutions and economic development", in *Handbook of Development Economics*, ed. by J. Behrman and T. Srinivasan, vol. 3, chap. 38, pp. 2301–2370, Elsevier.

## Série Documents de travail / Working Papers Series Publiés depuis janvier 2009 / published since January 2009

Les numéros antérieurs sont consultables sur le site : http://recherche.afd.fr Previous publications can be consulted online at: http://recherche.afd.fr

N° 78	« L'itinéraire professionnel du jeune Africain » Les résultats d'une enquête auprès de jeunes leaders Africains sur
	les « dispositifs de formation professionnelle post-primaire »
	Richard Walther, consultant ITG, Marie Tamoifo, porte-parole de la jeunesse africaine et de la diaspora
	Contact : Nicolas Lejosne, département de la Recherche, AFD - janvier 2009.
N° 79	Le ciblage des politiques de lutte contre la pauvreté : quel bilan des expériences dans les pays en développement ?
	Emmanuelle Lavallée, Anne Olivier, Laure Pasquier-Doumer, Anne-Sophie Robilliard, DIAL - février 2009.
N° 80	Les nouveaux dispositifs de formation professionnelle post-primaire. Les résultats d'une enquête terrain au Cameroun,
	Mali et Maroc
	Richard Walther, Consultant ITG
	Contact : Nicolas Lejosne, département de la Recherche, AFD - mars 2009.
N° 81	Economic Integration and Investment Incentives in Regulated Industries
	Emmanuelle Auriol, Toulouse School of Economics, Sara Biancini, Université de Cergy-Pontoise, THEMA,
	Comments by : Yannick Perez and Vincent Rious - April 2009.
N° 82	Capital naturel et développement durable en Nouvelle-Calédonie - Etude 1. Mesures de la « richesse totale »
	et soutenabilité du développement de la Nouvelle-Calédonie
	Clément Brelaud, Cécile Couharde, Vincent Géronimi, Elodie Maître d'Hôtel, Katia Radja, Patrick Schembri,
	Armand Taranco, Université de Versailles - Saint-Quentin-en-Yvelines, GEMDEV
	Contact : Valérie Reboud, département de la Recherche, AFD - juin 2009.
N° 83	The Global Discourse on "Participation" and its Emergence in Biodiversity Protection
	Olivier Charnoz July 2009.
N° 84	Community Participation in Biodiversity Protection: an Enhanced Analytical Framework for Practitioners
	Olivier Charnoz - August 2009.
N° 85	Les Petits opérateurs privés de la distribution d'eau à Maputo : d'un problème à une solution ?
	Aymeric Blanc, Jérémie Cavé, LATTS, Emmanuel Chaponnière, Hydroconseil
	Contact : Aymeric Blanc, département de la recherche, AFD - août 2009.
N° 86	Les transports face aux défis de l'énergie et du climat
	Benjamin Dessus, Global Chance.
N° 87	Contact : Nils Devernois, département de la Recherche, AFD - septembre 2009.
IN O7	Fiscalité locale : une grille de lecture économique  Guy Gilbert, professeur des universités à l'Ecole normale supérieure (ENS) de Cachan
N° 88	Contact : Réjane Hugounenq, département de la Recherche, AFD - septembre 2009.  Les coûts de formation et d'insertion professionnelles - Conclusions d'une enquête terrain en Côte d'Ivoire
14 00	Richard Walther, expert AFD avec la collaboration de Boubakar Savadogo (Akilia) et de Borel Foko (Pôle de Dakar)
	Contact : Nicolas Lejosne, département de la Recherche, AFD - octobre 2009.
	Contact : Nicolas Lejostie, departement de la Mediterone, AFD - Octobre 2005.

N° 89	Présentation de la base de données. Institutional Profiles Database 2009 (IPD 2009)
14 03	Institutional Profiles Database III - Presentation of the Institutional Profiles Database 2009 (IPD 2009)
	Denis de Crombrugghe, Kristine Farla, Nicolas Meisel, Chris de Neubourg, Jacques Ould Aoudia, Adam Szirmai
	Contact : Nicolas Meisel, département de la Recherche, AFD - décembre 2009.
N° 90	Migration, santé et soins médicaux à Mayotte
	Sophie Florence, Jacques Lebas, Pierre Chauvin, Equipe de recherche sur les déterminants sociaux de la santé et
	du recours aux soins UMRS 707 (Inserm - UPMC)
	Contact : Christophe Paquet, département Technique opérationnel (DTO), AFD - janvier 2010.
N° 91	Capital naturel et developpement durable en Nouvelle-Calédonie - Etude 2. Soutenabilité de la croissance néo-
	calédonienne : un enjeu de politiques publiques
	Cécile Couharde, Vincent Géronimi, Elodie Maître d'Hôtel, Katia Radja, Patrick Schembri, Armand Taranco
	Université de Versailles – Saint-Quentin-en-Yvelines, GEMDEV
	Contact : Valérie Reboud, département Technique opérationnel, AFD - janvier 2010.
N° 92	Community Participation Beyond Idealisation and Demonisation: Biodiversity Protection in Soufrière, St. Lucia
	Olivier Charnoz, Research Department, AFD - January 2010.
N° 93	Community participation in the Pantanal, Brazil: containment games and learning processes
	Participation communautaire dans le Pantanal au Brésil : stratégies d'endiguement et processus d'apprentissage
	Olivier Charnoz, département de la Recherche, AFD - février 2010.
N° 94	Développer le premier cycle secondaire : enjeu rural et défis pour l'Afrique subsaharienne
	Alain Mingat et Francis Ndem, IREDU, CNRS et université de Bourgogne
	Contact : Jean-Claude Balmès, département Education et formation professionnelle, AFD - avril 2010
N° 95	Prévenir les crises alimentaires au Sahel : des indicateurs basés sur les prix de marché
	Catherine Araujo Bonjean, Stéphanie Brunelin, Catherine Simonet, CERDI - mai 2010.
N° 96	La Thaïlande : premier exportateur de caoutchouc naturel grâce à ses agriculteurs familiaux
	Jocelyne Delarue, Département de la Recherche, AFD - mai 2010.
N° 97	Les réformes curriculaires par l'approche par compétences en Afrique
	Francoise Cros, Jean-Marie de Ketele, Martial Dembélé, Michel Develay, Roger-François Gauthier, Najoua Ghriss,
	Yves Lenoir, Augustin Murayi, Bruno Suchaut, Valérie Tehio - juin 2010.
N° 98	Les coûts de formation et d'insertion professionnelles - Les conclusions d'une enquête terrain au Burkina Faso
	Richard Walther, Boubakar Savadogo, consultants en partenariat avec le Pôle de Dakar/UNESCO-BREDA.
N° 00	Contact : Nicolas Lejosne, département de la Recherche, AFD - juin 2010.
N° 99	Private Sector Participation in the Indian Power Sector and Climate Change
	Shashanka Bhide, Payal Malik, S.K.N. Nair, Consultants, NCAER  Contact : Aymeric Blanc, Research Department, AFD - June 2010.
N° 100	Normes sanitaires et phytosanitaires : accès des pays de l'Afrique de l'Ouest au marché européen - Une étude
11 100	empirique
	Abdelhakim Hammoudi, Fathi Fakhfakh, Cristina Grazia, Marie-Pierre Merlateau.
	Contact : Marie-Cécile Thirion, département de la Recherche, AFD - juillet 2010.
N° 101	Hétérogénéité internationale des standards de sécurité sanitaire des aliments : Quelles stratégies pour les filières
	d'exportation des PED ? - Une analyse normative
	Abdelhakim Hammoudi, Cristina Grazia, Eric Giraud-Héraud, Oualid Hamza.
	Contact : Marie-Cécile Thirion, département de la Recherche, AFD - juillet 2010.

N° 102	Développement touristique de l'outre-mer et dépendance au carbone
	Jean-Paul Ceron, Ghislain Dubois et Louise de Torcy.
	Contact : Valérie Reboud, AFD - octobre 2010.
N° 103	Les approches de la pauvreté en Polynésie française : résultats et apports de l'enquête sur les conditions de vie en 2009
	Javier Herrera, IRD-DIAL, Sébastien Merceron, Insee - novembre 2010.
	Contact : Cécile Valadier, département de la Recherche
N° 104	La gestion des déchets à Coimbatore (Inde) : frictions entre politique publique et initiatives privées
	Jérémie Cavé, Laboratoire Techniques, Territoires et Sociétés (LATTS), CNRS - décembre 2010.
N° 105	Migrations et soins en Guyane - Rapport final à l'Agence Française de Développement dans le cadre du contrat
	AFD-Inserm
	Anne Jolivet, Emmanuelle Cadot, Estelle Carde, Sophie Florence, Sophie Lesieur, Jacques Lebas, Pierre Chauvin
	Contact : Christophe Paquet, département Technique opérationnel (DTO), AFD - décembre 2010.
N° 106	Les enjeux d'un bon usage de l'électricité : Chine, Inde, Etats-Unis, Union européenne
	Benjamin Dessus et Bernard Laponche avec la collaboration de Sophie Attali (Topten International Services),
	Robert Angioletti (Ademe), Michel Raoust (Terao)
	Contact : Nils Devernois, département de la Recherche, AFD - janvier 2011.
N° 107	Hospitalisation des patients des pays de l'Océan indien - Prises en charges spécialisées dans les hôpitaux de la
	Réunion
	Catherine Dupilet, Dr Roland Cash, Dr Olivier Weil et Dr Georges Maguerez (cabinet AGEAL)
	En partenariat avec le Centre Hospitalier Régional de la Réunion et le Fonds de coopération régionale de la
	Réunion - Contact : Philippe Renault, AFD - février 2011.